BOTTLE-MAKING: GLOBAL PIONEERS SYKES AND MACVAY
Cemetery Trail grave locations A and B
In 1829, four managers from the Hunslet glass works of Joshua Bower & Sons bought a disused pewter furnace on the banks of the River Calder at Whitwood Mere, a short distance to the west of Castleford and adjacent to the pottery recently vacated by David Dunderdale’s fine china company. Contemporary legend had it that the Leeds glassmakers spotted the furnace on a fishing trip and considered it the ideal location for the company’s planned expansion into bottle manufacture. Their hunch proved correct, for not only did their Black Flag works thrive but in the next two decades, helped by the modernisation of the Aire & Calder Navigation in the early 1830s and arrival of the railway in 1840, several more followed, quickly cementing Castleford as the centre of the Yorkshire bottlemaking industry. Plentiful sources of coal, fine sand and limestone had already seen glass furnaces established at nearby Houghton – soon more commonly known as Glass Houghton – but this was quickly eclipsed by developments in Castleford itself.
Frequent and often undocumented changes of ownership and partnerships make the exact sequence of establishment and expansion of Castleford’s bottle works impossible to pin down but the following developments can be traced with a degree of confidence. In 1832, a second glasshouse (a circular or square building around a central furnace and chimney) was built at the Black Flag works, then in 1834 one of the partners in the enterprise, James Winterbottom, left and, in conjunction with the town’s general practitioner Adam Jessop, opened the Aire & Calder Glass Bottle Works on a neck of land in a sharp bend of the first-named river at Ryebread, off Wheldale (later Wheldon) Lane. They were soon joined in the enterprise by Edgar Breffit, but the company went into liquidation in 1839: subsequently the one-time junior partner purchased the works, which continued trading as Edgar Breffit & Co until it closed in 1926.
The influence of the railway was apparent in 1842 when John Lumb and John Simpson established the York & North Midland Glassworks alongside the line of the same name on Albion Street, later opening a second plant to the west of there, at Hightown. Albion Street was also the location chosen by the partnership of Thomas Sykes and William Macvay in 1864 for the two sites which comprised their Albion Works: one on the north side of the road adjacent to the railway crossing; the other to the south of the road a short distance to the east (now the site of the bus station). Although there were subsequent buyouts and amalgamations, this nevertheless remained the basic pattern of Castleford bottle works location through the 19th and into the first quarter of the 20th century.
Sykes and Macvay were from contrasting backgrounds but their combination of practicality and financial acumen proved a powerful formula which, by the end of the 19th century, would elevate Castleford to global leadership in glass bottle manufacture – a remarkable fact which has since been almost completely forgotten. Thomas Sykes was from an old-established Castleford family which had done well from the building trade as the town boomed, even if the quality of most houses provided for the bottle works and pottery employees was desperately poor. His son, Richard, became involved in the business, too, and took over after the death of his father in 1869. Derbyshire-born William Macvay came to Castleford as an accountant at Edgar Breffit & Co but his sense of ambition and demanded something more, prompting him to leave the company and team up with the Sykes father and son, though at the time neither side could have had any idea what this partnership would subsequently achieve.
In 1887, the Albion Works of Sykes, Macvay & Co was the first factory in the world where bottle-moulding machines replaced manual glass blowing, pioneering the transformation of the industry across Britain and the globe. The ‘plank’ machine – so called because the earliest versions were mounted on a wooden board – had been invented by Howard Ashley, an iron founder from Ferrybridge, before Sykes, Macvay & Co took over the patent, perfected the mechanism and issued £100,000 of shares to put their automated plant into production. It could, the prospectus claimed, produce bottles “at one tenth the present cost of labour” even though each machine initially required seven men to operate it.
On 17 December 1887, the Leeds Mercury reported: “Another familiar land-mark is going. The Glass Bottle Trade is in process of being melted down into new parisons [a blob of molten glass] without Blow pipes and Blowers, and instead of 5 men being necessary to evolve an imperial receptacle for beer or aerated water it almost looks as if 5 innocently occupied adults might discover pastime in watching the conjoint labours of a machine and a youth in placing bottles at the service of good liquor as fast as they can be counted. Never since the days of the Pharaohs has anything so clever in glass-making been devised, nor anything so simple.”
Other local companies soon followed this lead and, as a result, by the middle of the next decade Castleford was producing more glass bottles than anywhere else in the world – some 16 million a year. As is often the case, however, the pioneers were not the ones to enjoy the ultimate success and, as other firms refined the original machine design, they left Sykes, Macvay & Co behind. The company ceased trading in 1894 and its 22 machines were sold to rival bottle makers in Knottingley and St Helens.
Further company rationalisation and amalgamations meant that once the Aire & Calder works ceased trading in 1926, John Lumb & Co was the only firm remaining in Castleford. This became part of the United Glass Bottle conglomerate in 1937, with its two sites on either side of the railway, at Albion Street and Hightown, continuing in production until 1983.
Although his wife and children were buried in Castleford Cemetery, William Macvay’s grave is in the churchyard of St Mary the Less, Allerton Bywater.
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